



Economic Commission for Europe

Steering Committee on Trade Capacity and Standards

Working Party on Agricultural Quality Standards

**Specialized Section on Standardization
of Fresh Fruit and Vegetables**

Seventy-second session

Geneva, 6–8 May 2024

Item 5 (a) of the provisional agenda

Review of existing standards:

Discussion of proposals resulting from the last session

**Proposed revisions to the informal reference list of citrus
fruit varieties – comparison with the 2023 document**

Submitted by the Secretariat

Summary

This document aims to facilitate the review of the proposed changes to the informal reference list of citrus fruit varieties (ECE/CTCS/WP.7/GE.1/2024/6) by showing in track-change the changes as compared to the 2018 version of the informal reference list of citrus fruit varieties.

I. Introduction¹

1. The informal list of citrus fruit varieties was developed by the Specialized Section on Standardization of Fresh Fruit and Vegetables, a subsidiary body of the Working Party on Agricultural Quality Standards of the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE).

2. The purpose of this informal list of citrus varieties is to serve as a guide to inspection bodies, growers, packers, exporters, importers and retailers. The list is not meant to be exhaustive. Varieties not mentioned in the list can still be traded if they satisfy the requirements of the UNECE standard FFV-14 for the marketing and commercial quality control of citrus fruit.

3. Some of the varieties listed in the following list may be marketed under names for which trademark protection has been sought or obtained in one or more countries. Names believed by the United Nations Specialized Section on Standardization of Fresh Fruit and Vegetables / Working Party on Agricultural Quality Standards to be varietal names are listed in the first column. Other names by which the United Nations Specialized Section on Standardization of Fresh Fruit and Vegetables / Working Party on Agricultural Quality Standards believes the variety may be known are listed in the second column. None of these two columns is intended to include trademarks. References to known trademarks have been included in the third column for information only. The presence of any trademarks in the third column does not constitute any licence or permission to use that trademark – such licence must come directly from the trademark owner. In addition, the absence of a trademark in the third column does not constitute any indication that there is no registered/pending trademark for such a variety. For labelling requirements please refer to section VI of the UNECE ~~citrus fruit~~ standard FFV-14 concerning the marketing and commercial quality control of citrus fruit.²

4. The following list is based on the scientific names as agreed for the standard. It includes:

- the changes agreed for the Citrus fruit ~~standards~~ standard at the April 2016 session of the Specialized Section on Standardization of Fresh Fruit and Vegetables.

¹ The update of the list may be requested through the Specialized Section on Standardization of Fresh Fruit and Vegetables, a subsidiary body of the UNECE Working Party on Agricultural Quality Standards.

² Some of the varietal names listed in the first column may indicate varieties for which patent protection has been obtained in one or more countries. Such proprietary varieties may only be produced or traded by those authorized by the patent holder to do so under an appropriate licence. The United Nations takes no position as to the validity of any such patent or the rights of any such patent-holder or its licensee regarding the production or trading of any such variety.

The United Nations Working Party on Agricultural Quality Standards endeavoured to ensure that no trademark names are listed in columns 1, and 2 of the table. However, it is the responsibility of any trademark owner to notify the secretariat of the United Nations ~~promptly~~ Economic Commission for Europe if a trademark name has been included in the table and to provide the United Nations secretariat (see address below) with an appropriate varietal, or generic name for the variety, as well as adequate evidence ownership of any applicable patent or trademark regarding such variety so that the list can be amended. Provided that no further information is needed from the trademark holder, the Working Party on Agricultural Quality Standards will change/revise the list accordingly at the session following receipt of the information. The United Nations takes no position as to the validity of any such trademarks or the rights of any such trademark owners or their licensees.

Agricultural Standards Unit
Economic Cooperation and Trade Division
United Nations Economic Commission for Europe
Palais des Nations, CH-1211 Geneva 10, Switzerland
E-mail: agristandards@uneceun.org

- the contributions to the Specialized Section meeting in 2017 from Italy, Morocco, the Netherlands, South Africa, Spain, ~~USA~~ and the United States of America (as of 2 March 2017~~),-).~~
- the contributions of the working group of the Specialized Section on Standardization of Fresh Fruit and Vegetables as of 3 May 2017 ~~and~~.
- the written contributions of Spain on 6 May 2017.

- Written contributions by South Africa on 26 June 2017.
- the written contributions of Germany submitted for the Specialized Section meeting in 2023.
- The contributions of the ad-hoc working group established at the 2023 session of the Specialized Section to review the list (consisting of Brazil, Germany, South Africa (rapporteur) and Spain).

5. The following principles apply:

(a) The variety name or spelling of this name is taken as referenced by the patent holder.

(b) Synonyms can have different spellings.

(c) Synonyms having a similar spelling as registered or patented trademarks are not included in the list in order not to ~~spoil the protection of~~ infringe upon the trademark.

6. The initial version ~~takes of this list took~~ into account the publication “Citrus of the World” ~~[CoW]~~: A Citrus directory, Version 2.0, September 2002-~~(, SRA INRA-CIRAD 2002 (available at: citruspages.free.fr/citrusoftheworld.pdf).~~

II. Non-exhaustive reference list of citrus varieties

Lemons *Citrus limon*

Variety	Synonyms	Trademarks
3X97 <u>2PH Eureka Seedless</u>	<u>2PH Eureka Seedless</u>	
Bearss <u>Adamo</u>	<u>Sicilian, Sicile</u>	
Berna	Bernia, Verna, Vernia	
Bétera		
Cerza		
Chaparro		
Común <u>Comun</u>		
Continella	Femminello Apireno Continella, Femminello Continella, L.-A.-C.	
Demre dikensiz [per Turkey] <u>Eureka</u>	<u>Italian, Italian Memeli, Italian Pink, Allen, Allen Newman #4, Blanchard, Cascade, Cook, Frost Eureka, Jek, Loch, Meek, Palia, Richardson, Ryan, S 15, Sloop, Thornton, UCLA, Utt, Wheatly</u>	
Eureka <u>Seedless</u>	Addo, Allen, Allen Newman #4, Blanchard, Cascade, Cook, Eureka, Frost Eureka, Jek, Loch, Meek, Palia Eureka, Palia, Richardson, Ryan, S 15, Sloop, Thornton, UCLA, Utt, Wheatly <u>Seedless Lemons</u>	<u>Eureka SL</u>
Femminello Eureka Seedless	<u>Adamo, Bianchetti, Cerza, Femminello Comune, Femminello Ovale, Incapucciato, Kuvittaru, Marchese Vigo, Ovale Comune, Quattrocchi, Ruvi, Ruvittara, Ruvittaru</u>	Eureka SL TM
Fino <u>Femminello</u>	<u>Bianchetti, Femminello Comune, Femminello Ovale, Incapucciato, Kuvittaru, Marchese Vigo, Ovale Comune, Quattrocchi, Ruvi, Ruvittara, Ruvittaru, Verdelli, Blanco, de Murcia, Mesero, Primafiori, Primofiori</u>	
Fior d'arancio	Femminello a zagara bianca, Femminello fior	

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
	d'arancio, Femminello Zagara Bianca, Zagara Bianca	
Frost Lisbon	Lisboa Frost	
Genoa	de Génes, Genoa of Messina, Genova	
Golden Seedless		
Interdonato	Liscione, Speciale	
<u>Italian</u>	<u>Demre dikensiz, Italian</u> <u>Memeli, Italian Pink</u>	
Kütdiken	-Kutdiken	
Lamas		
Lapithkiotiki	Laphitos, Lapithou	
Lemox		
Lisbon	Bradbury, Cavers, Crisps, Deaver, Doctor Strong, Dr. Strong, du Portugal, <u>Frost</u> , Hall, Jameson, Kaweah, Ledge, Ledig, Limoneira 8A, Lisboa, <u>Lisboa Frost</u> , Lissabon, Lupe, Monroe, Olivelands, Portugal, Price, Prior, Prospect, Strong, Thille, USDA, Verity, <u>Walker</u>	
Lunario	Amalfi, Amalfitana, Amalfitano, Cuatro Estaciones, de Palerme, de Sicile, des quatre saisons, Everbearing, Karès touil, Palerme, Palmarito, Parmelitano, Quatre Saisons, Shahri, Siciliano, Sfusato Amalfitano, Todo del ano <u>Ano</u> , Touil	
Mesero	Blanco, de Murcie, Fino, Primafiori, Primofiori	
Messarar		
Messer		
Messina		
<u>Milenio Forte</u>	<u>Milenium</u>	
Monachello	Moscatallo, Mussu di Pupa, Russidaro	
Ovale di Sorrento	di Massalubrense, di Sorrento, Massalubrense, Sorrento	

Variety	Synonyms	Trademarks
<u>Pink Blush</u>		
<u>Ruby Pink</u>		
Santa Teresa	Femminello Santa Teresa	
Sicily	Bearss, Sicile	
Siracusano	di Siracusa, Femminello masculuni, Femminello siracusano, Masculuni, Syracusano	
<u>Summer Prim</u>		
Vakalou <u>Vakhalou</u>	Vakalon, <u>Vakhalou</u> Vakalou	
<u>Variegated Pink Eureka</u>		
<u>Verna</u>	<u>Berna, Bernia, Vernia</u>	
Villafranca	Corona Foothill Eureka, Foothill, Laidlaw	
Walker		
Yen Ben		

Lemon hybrids

Variety	Synonyms	Trademarks
Meyer	<u>Improved Meyer</u>	
Ponderosa	American Wonder	

Persian limes *Citrus latifolia*

Variety	Synonyms	Trademarks
El Kseur Idemor Pond	d'El Kseur	
<u>Persian</u> Tahiti	<u>Barbara, Bearss, Byrum</u> <u>seedless, d'El Kseur, de</u> <u>Perse, El Kseur, IAC, Page,</u> <u>Parker, Pond</u> Persian, <u>Sicilian, Tanepao, Tahiti,</u> <u>Taroudant, USDA-2,</u> <u>Venetico, Wilder</u>	
Taroudant		

West Indian limes *Citrus aurantiifolia*

Variety	Synonyms	Trademarks
Abu Srera Ambilobe	<u>Abu Sara, Abu Sorri</u>	

Variety	Synonyms	Trademarks
Ballard		
Baramasi		
Bou Maïs		
Buona Vista	Buena Vista	
Coppenrhad		
Criollo	Kriollo	
Doc Sans Epines auch	Doc Thornless	
Dourada		
Everglade		
Giant	Giant Key	
Honolulu		
Inerme	Sans épine	
Khark		
Kirk	Khark	
Mak-nao-San		
Newell	Newell's Thornless Key	
Nouvelle-Calédonie		
Palmetto		
Pursha		
Quatre-Saisons		
Vietnam		
West Indian	<u>Abbassi</u> , Abhayapuri, Abu- Srera Mexican <u>Srera</u> , Akola, <u>Ambilobe</u> , American, Antillaise, Balady, <u>Ballard</u> , <u>Baramasi</u> , Bartender, Beldi, Beledi, Ben Zohair, Benzeher, Benzihair, <u>Bou Maïs</u> , <u>Buena Vista</u> , <u>Buona Vista</u> , Canaria, Caribbean, Champakagzi, Citron Gallet, Coorg, <u>Coppenrhad</u> , Corriente, <u>Criollo</u> , Dalayap, Dayap, Dhoc, di Napoli, Doc, <u>Dourada</u> , Egyptian, Elumichai, <u>Everglade</u> , Fiji, Gallego, Gifford, Gurarath, Hessargatta, <u>Honolulu</u> , India, Jaidevi, Jeruk Asem, Jeruk nepis, Jeruk Nipis, Jeruk Pecel, Jeruk Peras, Kagazi Nimbu, Kagazi Wimbu, Kaghzi Kalan, Kaghzi Nimbu, Kaghzi, Kagzi Nimboo, Karibsky, Karimganj, Kasi Pentla, Katagi, Kazzi, Key, Khagadior, Khagady, <u>Khark</u> , <u>Kirk</u> , Lai meng, <u>Mak nao San</u> , Malaya, Manao, Manoa, Mejjicana, Mexicaine, Mexican, Mexicky, Mexico, Mungalipattu, Muri,	

Variety	Synonyms	Trademarks
	Napoli, Napulitaniello, Nimboo, Nimbu, Nouvelle Calédonie , Palmetto , PKM-1, Pramalini, Quatre Saisons , Rachidi, Rashidy, Sai Sarbati, Santa Barbara, Shirazi, Sour, Stow #7, Sutil, Taporo, Tenali, Torsh, Vietnam , Vikram	
Yung	Mexican Thornless, Spineless Mexican, Thornless Mexican	

Sweet limes *Citrus limettioides*

Variety	Synonyms	Trademarks
Palestine Indian	Balady, Benchar , Benshar , Bizri , Boussora, Brazil , Chaksi, Chiri , Chiri Dezfoul , Colombia , de Benshar , de Dezfoul , de Mazandaran , de Palestine , douce de Palestine, Helou, Indian Sweet, Kieffer, Limun succari , Mihta-kaghzi, Mistikavi , Mitha nimboo , Palestine , Purua , Sidi amer, Soh Jew , Trabelsi, Wahl, Weirick, Werrick	
Benchar	Benshar , Chiri Dezfoul , Chiri , de Benshar , de Dezfoul , de Mazandaran	
Bizri		
Brazil		
Columbia		
Mistikavi		
Purua		
Soh Jew		
Werrick		

Grapefruit *Citrus paradisi*

Variety name	Synonyms	Trademarks	Additional information
UF-914			Pummelo-Grapefruit-Hybrid, pink- or red fleshed
Burgundy			Pink or red fleshed
Duncan			White fleshed

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>	<i>Additional information</i>
FE1	<u>Jackson LS</u> Sweet Sunrise, Magie	<u>Sweet Sunrise</u>	White-fleshed
Flame			Pink- or red-fleshed
Foster			Pink- or red-fleshed
Gi			
Henderson	<u>Henderson's Red</u>	<u>Ruby Sweet</u>	Pink- or red-fleshed
Henderson 13	<u>ARC#1671</u> SweetHeart	<u>SweetHeart</u>	Pink- or red-fleshed
<u>Henderson 17</u>	<u>ARC#1672, Flamingo</u>	<u>RedHeart</u>	<u>Pink- or red-fleshed</u>
Jackson			White-fleshed
JR13	<u>Jackson LS</u>		White-fleshed
Marsh	Marsh Seedless, Early Marsh		White-fleshed
Nartia			White-fleshed
Nelruby			Pink- or red-fleshed
Oran Red	Rouge la Toma		Pink- or red-fleshed
Orblanco		<u>Sweetie®</u>	Grapefruit, Pummelo Hybrid, white fleshed
<u>Paraná</u>	<u>Pomelo Paraná</u>	-	<u>Natural hybrid sweet orange (C. sinensis) and pummelo (C. maxima)</u>
Ray Ruby		<u>Ruby Sweet</u>	Pink- or red-fleshed
Rio Red		<u>Rio Star</u>	Pink- or red-fleshed
Ruben SL			Pink- or red-fleshed
Red Blush	Redblush, Ruby, Ruby Red, Ruby Blush, Rosé, Yarden Red	<u>Ruby Sweet</u>	Pink- or red-fleshed
RedHeart	<u>Flamingo 17</u>		Pink- or red-fleshed
Shambar	Red Shambar		Pink- or red-fleshed
Star Ruby	Sunrise	<u>Rio Star</u>	Pink- or red-fleshed
Thompson	Marsh Pink, Pink Marsh		Pink- or red-fleshed
Triumph			White-fleshed

Pummelos, Shaddock *Citrus maxima*

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>	<i>Additional information</i>
Chandler	Jaffa Red Pomelo		Pink- or red-fleshed
Goliath			White-fleshed
Guanximiyou	Honey pummelo/pomelo		White-fleshed
Melogold	<u>White Pummelo</u>		Pummelo- Grapefruit-Hybrid, white-fleshed
<u>Oroblanco</u>		<u>Sweetie</u>	<u>Grapefruit- Pummelo-Hybrid, white fleshed</u>
Pink	Java, Java Pink, <u>Shaddock, Pink Pummelo, Pompelmous</u>		Pink- or red-fleshed
Pomelit	Hybrid 202, X202, Ruby Pomelit		Pink- or red-fleshed
Pomelo Parana Valentine			Pummelo-Mandarin- Orange-Hybrid, red- fleshed

Oranges *Citrus sinensis*

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Belladonna		
Berna	Alberola, Bedmar, Berna Peret, Bernia, Verna	
Biondo commune		
Cadenera	Comice, Cornice, Ducroq, Orero	
Calabrese	Calabria, Calabrese Ovale, Ovale	
Castellana		
Clanor	Protea	
Glorius	Brocade, Jin Chen, Jincheng, Yiyuan	
Hamlin	Norris	
<u>Jincheng</u>	<u>Brocade, Glorius, Jin Chen, Yiyuan</u>	
Lima	Lima Tardia, Molera, <u>Piralima, Lima Roque, Lima</u>	

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
	Sorocaba , Lima Maravilha , Lima GL	
Marrs	Marrs Early, Marsh Early	
Moghrabi	Succari	
Mosambi	Mesambi, Mosambique, Mossambi, Mozambique, Mussembe	
Natal	Natal 7 Lagoas , Natal Chefinho	
Parson Brown	Parson, Porter, Carney	
Pera	Lamb, Lamb's Summer, Pera Coroa, Pera Rio, Perão, Peret, Peretta, Super Pera , Pera Olimpia , Pera Bianchi	
Pineapple	Hickory, Pineapple-156, Ridge Pineapple, Ridge Seedling	
Salustiana	Pallas Salustiana, Salustiano, Midseasons	
Shamouti	Cyprus Oval, Midseasons	
Sucreña	Canamiel, Grano de Oro, Imperial de Malaga, Imperial Grano de Oro, Imperial, Miele, Puerto Rico, Real, Reina de España, Riqueza,	
Trovita		
Westin		

Oranges: Navel-Group

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Addo Early		
Atwood	Atwood Early	
Autumn Gold	Pollock Late Navel	
Baianinha	Bahianinha, Baianina Piracicaba	
Barnfield Late Navel	Barnfield, Barnfield Summer	
Bruwer Early		
Caloma		
Cambria		
Carninka		

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Chislett Summer Navel	Chislett, Chislett Summer	
<u>De Wet</u>		
Dream		
Foyos		
Fukumoto		
Gillemborg		
Glen Ora Late		
Gloudi		
Lane Late		
Leng	Leng's Navel	
M7		
McClellan		
<u>Mustang</u>		
Navelate	Navel Tardia	
Navelina	Dalmau, Smith's Early	
Newhall	Naveline, New Hall	
<u>Painter Early</u>		
Palmer		
Powell Summer Navel	Powell, Powell Summer, Powell Late Navel	
Ricalate		
Robyn		
Rhode Summer Navel	Rhode, Rhode Summer	
Royal Late	Rustenburg	
<u>Santa Catarina</u>		
Skaggs Bonanza	Bonanza	
Summer Gold		
<u>Suitangi</u>		
<u>Sunrise</u>		
Thomson	Curlwaa, de Nice, Dungan, Garroway, Navel de Nice, Nice, Rocky Hill, Sheldon, Thomson Improved, Zimmerman	
Tulegold	Tule Gold, Tulegold Early	
Washington	Bahia, <u>Bahia Cabula</u> , Baiana, Baraque, Bernard, Cram, Cranston's, Daenkan, De	

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
	Umbigo, Eddy, Fisher, Fischer, Herps, Houghton, Huasshendun, Hutchinson, Kebby, Neeburu, Original, Parent, Rubidoux, Thomson ahrech, Tibbets, Umbigo, Warren	
Wiffen Summer Navel		
Witkrans		

Oranges: Red Navel-Group

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Cara Cara	Caracara, Ruby Navels, Red Navels	Redstar TM
Kirkwood Red	Ruby Navels, Red Navels	Redstar TM

Red Lina

Red Navels, Ruby Navels

Oranges: Valencia-Group

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Alpha		
Alvariña		
Amanzi		
Barberina		
<u>Beli</u>		
-Benny	<u>Bennie, Bennie</u> <u>Valencia, Benny</u> <u>Valencia</u>	
Campbell	Fawcett Campbell, Valencia Campbell	
Delicia	Delport	
Delta	Delta Seedless, Delta Valencia, Valencia Delta Seedless, <u>Valencia Seedless</u>	
Du Roi		
Gusocora	<u>G5G5, Gusocora</u> <u>Seedless, Valencia</u> <u>Seedless</u>	

Henrietta

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
<u>Jasi</u>		
<u>Kiyomi</u>	<u>Kiyomi Orange</u>	
Kleinhans		
<u>Kobus du Toit Late</u>	<u>Du Toit Late</u>	
Lavalle		
Limpopo Seedless	<u>Valencia Seedless</u>	
<u>Louisa</u>	<u>Letaba Oranje, Louisa Seedless</u>	
<u>Maroc Late</u>		
<u>Maxi</u>		
McClellan		
McClellan SL	<u>McClellan Seedless, Valencia Seedless</u>	
Midnight	Midnight Valencia, Midnight, Valencia Midnight Seedless, <u>Valencia Seedless</u>	
Millennium		
Oranges- Valencia Group (continued)		
Note: The name of the variety may be replaced by "Valencias"		
Olinda Valencia <u>Olinda</u>	Valencia Olinda	
Turkey	<u>Juvalle</u>	
Valencia	Addo, Alco, Argentina, Azusa, Balensi, Barenshia, <u>Beli</u> , Berri, Berry, Biennial, Broedershoek, Buri, Californian, Chapman, Coarse, Cotidiana, de Valence, Dell's Special, Deverano, Double Rind, Excelsior, Faurie, Fuzzy, Geisha, Hart's Late, Hart's tardiff, Harwood, Hillside, Indian River, Indian, Jaffa Late, Karino, Klingenburg, Knoll, Kroondal, Late, Margaret, Maroc Late, Mohn, Mouton, Nartia, Pindapoy, Puka, Raubenheimer, Rivers Late, Rocky Hill, Rubidge, Saft, Sifi, Soccer, Steelport, Stiemie, Sunkist,	

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Valentine	Theron, Valencia Late, <u>Weipe</u> , Winter	

Blood oranges

<i>Variety name</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Doblefina	Blood Oval, Burrado, Condesa, Condessa, Doble Fina, Extrafina, Morlotte, Oval Doblefina, Oval Fino, Oval Sangre, Ovale Sanguigno, Roja, Rojo Oval, Sangre Doble Fina, Sanguigna Oval, Sanguina Doble Fina, Sanguine Ovale, Sanguinia Oval	
Doublefine Améliorée	Bahia Sanguinea, de Malte, Doblefina mejorada, Grosse Ronde, Grosse Sanguine, Pedro Veyrat, Sanguina gruesa, Sanguine Grosse Ronde, Washington Sanguina, Washington Sanguine	
Maltaise Sanguine	Bourtukal, Lessan Aasfour, Maltaise ½ Sanguine, Maltaise de Tunisie, Maltaise Semi- Sanguine, Maltaise Blood, Mali âssir, Meski ahmar, Portokallo, Portugaise Blood, Portugaise, Tunisian Maltaise, <u>Maltaise</u>	
Moro	Belladonna Sanguigno, Dam Al Zaghoul, Moro Blood, Moro de Catania, Selezionato	
<u>Raspberry</u>		
<u>Ruby Valencia</u>	<u>Red Valencia</u>	
Sanguinello	Sanguinello Comune	
Sanguinelli	Allota, Blutoval, Lsène asfour, Sanguinella Negra, Sanguinella	
Tarocco	Bream, Taraceo , Tarocco Dalmuso, Tarocco del Francofonte, Tarocco del Musso, Tarocco Dolnus, Tarocco Francofonte, Tarocco Messina, Tarocco Rosso	
Tomango	<u>Protea, Midseasons</u>	

Satsumas *Citrus unshiu*

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Aoe	Aoe Wase	
Aoshima		
Armstrong Early		
Bela	<u>Belabela</u> , Bela Late	
Brown's Select		
Chahara		
Clausellina		
CS 115		
CS 7		
CS 8		
CS 9		
Dart North		
Dart South		
Dobashi Beni		
Early St. Ann		
Frost		
Hashimoto		
Hayashi		
Imamura		
Iseki	Iseki Wase	
Ishikawa		
Ishizuka		
Iwasaki		
Juman		
Kanakawa		
Kawano		
Kimbrough		
Konishi		
Koyama		
Kuno		
L.A. Early		
Matsuyama	Matsuyama Wase	
Miho	Miho Wase	

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Miyagawa	Miyagawa Wase	
Miyamoto		
Mr. Mac		
MSA 004		
Nagahashi		
Nankan No 20		
Nankan No 4		
Nichinan No 1		
Nucelares		
Obawase		
Ohtsu	Ohtsu No 4	
Ohura	Oura	
Okitsu	Okitsu Wase	
Owari		
Picaña	Tardía Picaña	
Planellina		
Precoz		
Rikitake		
Rize		
Sadora		
Serafines		
Seto		
Silverhill		
Sugiyama		
Takabayashi		
Tokumori		
Ueno		
Valles		
Wakiyama	Xie Shan	
Yamakowa		
Yonezawa		

Clementines *Citrus clementina*

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Ain Taoujdate		
Alberina		
Andes1		Clemenluz®
Arrufatina	Arufatina	
Basol		
Beatriz	Beatriz de Anna	
Bechi		
Bienvenida		
Borrull	Tamborets	
Cadoux		
Caffin	Azem	
Capola	Mioro	
Carte Noire	SRA 2000, Bekria, Bruno, MA 1, Carte Noir	
Clemenbeny		
Clemenbernar		
Clemenberto		
Clemencarte		
Clemenchiva		
Clemencira		
Clemenclara		
Clemenfabra		
Clemengual		
Clemenlate		
Clemenpons		
Clemenpronte		
Clemenrubi	PRI 23, AVASA PRI 23	PRI 23
Clemensol		
Clemensoon	Prenules	
Clementard		
Clementorre		
Clemerval		
Clemenules	de Nules, Gorda de Nules, Nulera, Nules, Nulesina	

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Clemenverd		
Clem Late		
Corsica 2		
CPN 2		
Cultifort		
Early Esbal		
Esbal		
Fedele	Fedele Bari	
Fina	Algerian	
Guillermina	Guillermina Forner	
Hernandina	Clemenlate, Clemlate	
Laluma		
LL		
Loretina		
MA3		
Marisol		
Martorell		
Monreal		
Muska		
Nero		
Neufina		
Nour		
Nulessin		
Oct 488		
Octubrina		
Orogrande		
Orogros		
Oronules		
Oroval		
PRI 26		
Ragheb		
Reina		
Rubino		
Sando		

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Santa Rosa	Clemenrosa	
Sidi Aissa		
Sojorn		
Soyma		
Spinoso		
SRA 63		
SRA 85		
SRA 89		
SRA 91ki		
SRA 92		
Tardia Onda		
Tardive de Janvier		
Tardive de Mars		
Tardivo		
Tomatera		
Tour		
Tremedal		
Villareal	Tardia Villareal	

Other Mandarins *Citrus reticulata*, *C. deliciosa*, *C. tangerina* and hybrids of mandarin-group

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
950		
Al Gharbaouia		
Al Mahdia		
Albir		
Alborea		
Alkantara	C2191	
Allspice		
Ambersweet		
ARCCIT 1519	B24, African Sunset	
ARCCIT 1614	B17, Valley Gold	
<u>ARCCIT 9</u>	<u>ARC Nadorcott LS,</u> <u>Nadorcott LS</u>	

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Asco		
Bay Gold		
Beauty		
Bellezza		
C1829		
C1867		
Camel		
Cami		
Casereña		
Cinto		
Clara		
Clemenuna		
Común Apireno		
Cravo	Laranja Cravo	
Daisy		
Daisy SL		
Dancy	Obeni-Mikan	
Dawn		
De Bougie		
Desiderio		
Dity		
Dweet		
Early Imperial		
Early Pride		
Early Sicily		
Edit		
Ellendale		
Ellenor		
Empress		
Encore		
Fairchild		
Fallglo	Magantina	
Florida		
Fortune	Fortuna	
Fremont		

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Furr	Clemcott, Clem x Murcott, Murcott x Clem	ClemCott®
Garbi		
Gold Nugget	Pixie-Like	
HadasHadass		
Hassaku		
Honey		
Imperial	Early Imperial	
IRM 1	IRM1 LS Murcott, Honey Murcott, IRM1 Murcott	
IRM 2	IRM2 LS Murcott, Honey Murcott, IRM2 Murcott	
Iyokan	Iyo	
Kara		
Kawano Natsudaidai		
Kedem		
Kincy		
King		
Kinnow		
Kiyomi		
Kosho Tankan		
Kunenbo		
LB8-9		Sugar Belle™
Leanri		
Lee	Lee Tangelo	
Maâmora		
Malaquina		
Malvasio		
Mandalate	D8811	
Mandalo		
Mandanova SL		
Mandared		
Mapo		
Mayana		

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Mediterranean	Amarillo, Arbi, Avana apireno, Avana di Palermo, Avana di Paterno, Avana, Ba Ahmed, Baladi, Belady, Beldi, Beledi, Blida, Bodrum, China, Chino, Ciaculi late, Clemendor, Commune, Comun, Común Apireno, Común sin hueso, d'Algérie, de Ba Ahmed, de Blihda, de Nice, de Provence, de Situbal, de Valence, di Palermo, di Paterno, Gallego, Havana, Havana of Palermo, Italian, Koino, Médéline arbi, Mexecira, Mexirica do Rio, Palermo, Paterno, Salteñita, Setubal, Setubalense, Stredozemni, Thorny, Valencia, Willof Leaf, Willowleaf, Yerli	
Merav	Meirav	
Michal		
Minneola	Minneola Tangelo, Honeybell, Tangelo	
Miyauchi Iyo		
Moncada		
Moncalina		
Montenegrina	Salteñita	
Mor	Moriah, Honey Mor, Spring Sunshine, Mor Murcott , Honey Murcott , Mor LS Murcott	Honey Gold™
Moria		
Murcott	Honey tangerine, Smith tangerine, Honey Murcott , Piemont Olé	
Murina		
Murta		

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
Nadorcott	W.Murcott	ClemenGold TM , ₂ ClemCott [®] , ₂ Afourer [®]
Natsudaidai	Natsumikan, Summer Orange	
Nectar		
Noma-Beni-Hassaku		
Nora		
Norit		
Nouvelle		
Nova	Clemenvilla, Suntina	
Nova ARC	Nova Seedless , Clemenvilla SL	
Odem		
Ohtani Iyo		
Or		Clemen'Or TM
Orah		
Orit		
Orlando	Orlando tangelo, Lake tangelo	
Orri	Or 4, Or	Clemen'Or TM
Ortanique	Australique, Cubanique, Mandora, Ormanda, Ortaline, Tambor, Topaz, Urunique, Villa-Late	
Osceola		
Page		
Palazzelli		
Patensie Early	PE1	
Pearl		
Pixie		
Poggio		
Ponkan	Batangas, Chinese Honey orange, Mohali mandarin, Nagpur suntara, Warnurco	
Primosole		
Queen		

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
<u>RHM</u>	<u>RHM Murcott, Royal Honey Murcott</u>	
Rishon		
Robin		
Robinson		
Roma		
<u>Ruby GS</u>		<u>Dandy Mandy</u>
Safor		
Samba		
Sampson		
Seminole	Seminoru	
Shani		
<u>Shanit</u>	<u>Shanit LS</u>	
<u>Shiranuhi</u> Shiranui	<u>Shiranui</u> Shiranui , Dekapon	Sumo [®] , <u>Dekapon</u>
<u>Sigal</u>		
Simeto		
Sonet		
<u>Spring Sunshine</u>		
Sue Linda		
Sunburst		
Sunred		
Sunrise		
Sunset		
Sunshine		
Sweet Spring		
Sweet Sicily		
Tacle		
Tami		
Tango	Tang Gold	
Tankan		
<u>Tanor</u>	<u>Tanor Late</u>	
Tardivo di Ciaculli		
TDE1		
TDE2		Shasta Gold [™]

<i>Variety</i>	<i>Synonyms</i>	<i>Trademarks</i>
TDE3		Tahoe Gold- TM
TDE4		Yosemite Gold- TM
Temple	Magnet, Temple orange, Royal mandarin	
Thornton		
Thoro	Thoro Temple, Minki, Royal, Scarlet	
<u>UF C4-15-19</u>	<u>Florida Early</u>	
UFGlow		
UFSunrise		
Ugli		Ugli-®
US Early Pride		
Vered		
Webber		
Wekiwa	Pink Tangelo, Lavender Gem	
Wilking		
Williams		
Winola	Spring Suntina	
Yanov		